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Documents Relating to the Proposed 1864 Newfoundland Coinage.

by Wayne Jacobs.

Forward.

As an overview, this particular phase of Newfoundland numismatics has already been
adequately treated in "The Currency and Medals of Newfoundland" (Rowe, C.F/ Haxby, J. /
and Graham, R.J. - with Irwin, RW/ Willey, R.C/ Williams, NNW. and McQuade, R.;
published 1983). However, as a matter of public record, it is frequently useful that the full
text be available. All too often a pertinent sentence (or even word) initially dismissed as
unimportant, may later serve to clear up a mystery.

Newfoundland went decimal as per "An Act for the Regulation of the Currency”,
Newfoundland 26 Vict. Cap.XVIII, passed by the Newfoundland legislature 25th March,
1863.! In its provisions, new coinage was mentioned only in paragraphs VII (bronze) and
VIII (gold and silver). For conversion purposes, the old "Newfoundland Pound" was to
represent $4.00 while the pound sterling - as exemplified by the gold sovereign - was to be
$4.80. American and South American "dollars" were to pass for $1.00, their fractions
proportionately - a slight under-evaluation. The Act would not come into force until
"sanctioned by Her Majesty”, and although this was granted in December, 1863, the Act
ultimately became law only as of January 1, 1865.

While this became "Decimal Day", "Her Majesty's sanction" was sufficient that with this in
hand, the Province moved to have its new coinage struck. That they didn't enter circulation
for more than a year later than expected was not Newfoundland's fault; as the following
documents show, Newfoundland adhered to all the necessary steps, promptly and
completely. We may reasonably assume that it was the proposed gold $2 piece that caused
British officialdom certain consternation - as well as holding everything up. Unfortunately,
that particular document seems to be among the missing.

However, we do have the following:

Document 1
(H?)W. Hoyles, Newfoundland Attorney-General to Governor Sir Alexander
Bannerman.

Attormey-General's
Office,

8th February 1864
"Dear Sir Alexander,

I beg leave to enclose an address from the Executive Council praying that Her
Majesty will be pleased to direct that under the provisions of the Currency Act recently
confirmed, bronze cents, silver five, - ten cent and twenty cent pieces, and gold two
dollar pieces may be struck at the Mint for the use of the Colony.

The quantity required of each coin will be of one cent pieces 240,000, of silver five
cent pieces 80,000, of silver ten cent pieces 80,000, of silver twenty cent pieces 100,000
and of gold two dollar pieces 10,000.

! Rowe/Haxby/Graham. Full text as Appendix II, pp 98-9
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The device for these coins would be, | presume, on one side the Queen's Head with the
words Victoria Regina 1864 and on the other the words Newfoundland one cent or (as
it may be) with either a wreath round the latter words or the figure of a crown or a
Newfoundland dog over them as the Master of the Mint may consider most

appropriate.

I enclose a letter of credit on the Union Bank of London for the funds necessary for
this service to be advanced from time to time as the Master of the Mint may require
and the Union Bank will also receive and ship the coin as soon as it is prepared.

We should be very glad if as little delay as possible might be permitted to occur in
the manufacture of these coins as some of them are urgently required and in the hope
that they will be ready by that time we have thought that the first of July should be the
latest date at which the act should be put into operation.

Your Excellency will observe that instead of a gold dollar, a piece to represent two
dollars is desired for immediate use the larger coin being for the present preferred in
consequence of its having been found in the United States that a gold dollar is rather
small for common use and amongst our people, rough fishermen accustomed to handle
only large coins, a strong objection to one so small, when of so large a value would be
found to exist. I trust that the clause in the section referred to by the Master of the
Mint will not prevent our having the two dollar pieces as he is quite correct in
supposing that it was introduced as a matter of form (being imitated? from the Act)
without any feeling of its necessity and in accordance with his advice it will be
repealed on the first opportunity.

I have &c¢
(Sigd) H.W. Hoyles, Atty-Genl"

From the above document, it shows that the British authorities were already having second
thoughts conceming the Newfoundland gold coins, their having passed the appropriate Act
notwithstanding. Perhaps it rather slipped by during their inattention to the specific details
of an otherwise routine matter. But Newfoundland was going to be insistent that Paragraph
8 be honored as the next document shows:

Document 2.
President of Newfoundland Executive Council to British Treasury(?)

"To the Queens Most Excellent Majesty

We the President and Members of Your Majesty's Executive Council of
Newfoundland humbly acquaint Your Majesty that by the eighth section of an Act of
the Legislature of this Colony passed in 1863 entitled "An Act for the regulation of the
currency”, it was amongst other matters enacted, that such gold and silver coins
representing dollars or multiples or divisions of the dollar, mentioned in the said Act
as Your Majesty should direct to be struck for that purpose by such names, and at such
rates and amounts as Your Majesty by Your Royal Proclamation should assign,
should, subject to the provisions of the said Act, pass current in this Colony, that the
said Act was in the month of December last sanctioned and confirmed by Your Majesty

2 "Intimated"?



in Council, and that we are desirous of putting the same into operation, - We therefore
humbly pray that Your Majesty will be graciously pleased to direct that there be struch
at the Royal Mint for the purposes of the said Act the following coins, namely, bronze
cents, silver five cent pieces, silver ten cent pieces, silver twenty cent pieces, and gold
two-dollar pieces, and that Your Majesty's Royal Proclamation may be issued in this
Colony for bringing such coins into circulation therein pursuant to the provisions f the
said Act.

(sd.) (Lawce.?) O'Brien, President
St. Johns, Newfoundland
February 1864

Enclosed as a packet was a copy of the following document, establishing the Colony's
credit with the Union Bank of London on behalf of the Royal Mint:

Document 3:
Manager, Union Bank of Newfoundland to General Manager, Union Bank of
London

"Union Bank of Newfoundland,
St. Johns, 9th Febr., 1864
"W.W. Scringeaner Esq
General Manager
Union Bank of London

Sir,

We beg to establish a Credit of Eleven thousand five hundred pounds sterling in
favour of "The Master of the Mint" London, whose Drafts at sight to that extent, you
will please honor, and charge the same to account of this Banh.

I am, Sir,
Your obt. Servt.
(signed) Jno. W. Smith, Manager

At nearly the same time, we have the following pertinent dispatch from Sir Alexander
Bannerman, Governor of Newfoundland to the Duke of Newcastle (Secretary for the
Colonies?)

Document 4:

"Government House,
Newfoundland
10th February, 1864
My Lord Duke,

Referring to my dispatch, No. 5 of the 30th ultimo, acknowledging the receipt of Your
Grace's dispatch No. 49 of date the 18th December sending me a confirmation of the
Currency Act, along with observations by the Lords of the Treasury relative to that
Act, and remarks by the Master of the Mint, - | have now the honor to acquaint Your



Grace that these documents were submitted to the Legislature notw in session with the
few following observations from me, which I cut from the Gazette :-

The English mail arrived on the evening after the opening of the Session, and brought
me the confirmation of an Act to which 1 had alluded in the earlier part of the day,
namely - the Currency Act. The Duke of Newcastle's despatch will be laid before you
along with its enclosure, namely, the observations of the Master of Her Majesty's Mint
on that Act, recommending the omission of a few words in the latter part of the Sth
clause; and this useful suggestion can easily be effected by a short Act repealing them.
The Master of the Mint's observations will, I believe, be gratifying to you, and when
this Bill comes into operation and one uniform system of keeping accounts is adopted,
it must not only be beneficial to the commercial interests but, - to the community at
large, - and we shall hear no more in Newfoundland of different denominations of
Sterling.

2. In the communication from the Treasury, their Lordships suggest that the
recommendation of the master of the Mint may be easily effected by "a future
enactment"” - and this will be done in the present Session, and, in no way alter nor
interfere with any of the other provisions in the Act which has now received Her
Majesty's special confirmation.

3. As this Colony has not been yet in a position to avail itself of the services of
Crown Agents, as referred to in Your Grace's circular of the 21st December last (to
which I shall allude separately) and, as great inconvenience arises from the want of a
copper currency &c, the Executive Council, with my full concurrance, have resolved on
this occasion to employ the Cashier of the "Union Bank of London", an establishment
which has negotiated pecuniary transactions with the Bank here on behalf of the
Government - to communicate on the subject of the coinage required, with the Master
of the Mint, and with that view 1 herewith enclose a letter of credit for (£11,500) eleven
thousand, five hundred pounds, in favour of the Master of the Mint - to the extent of
which his drafts will be paid at sight - as he may require, and when the coins are
finished, the Manager of the Union Bank will receive them, and incur the responsibility
of shipping, insurance, &c.

4. I shall tahe the liberty of sending a letter of introduction to Sir Frederic Rogers, in
the hope that Your Grace will authorize Sir Frederic to put the Manager in
communication with the Master, who will inform him of several devices proposed for
the side of the coin obverse to the head of the Queen, but, the Governor and Council are
most desirous to leave this matter to the master of the Mint, and, authorize him to
adopt such a device as e may consider best.

5. I have now only to apologize for troubling Your Grace, but, as it is most desirable
that the Currency Act should soon come into operation, | trust that I shall be excused
for soliciting your hind offices on behalf of the Government and people of the Colony,
and,

I have, &c¢
(sd) A. Bannerman, Governor."

It's obvious that thus far, a few documents are among the missing. We don't know, for
instance, what "few words" the Lords of the I reasury wished to have eliminated from Clause
8 of the Act - perhaps the word "gold"? If so, there would never have been a two-dollar coin



until another Act had been completely framed, submitted, confirmed and put into action.
Was Governor Bannerman just putting off the Duke of Newcastle until such time as the
matter was dropped? - after all, the words were not eliminated.

Also missing are the observations of the Master of the Mint that would include,
presumably, a "ballpark quote” on the proposed coinage as well. It is not in the Royal Mint
files, either. So far as price is concerned, it was close: $56,400 Newfoundland in face value (or
£11,333. 6s. 8d sterling) for £11,500.

In the matter of allowing the Royal Mint carte blanche regarding designs, things did not go
quite as well. Using the cheapest possible course, the Mint decided to use New Brunswick
designs already in use and alter them to Newfoundland by the simple change of the name.
There exists a die (with no pattern known) of an 1864 Newfoundland cent with only the
provincial name differentiating it from that of New Brunswick of the same year. The 5-, 10-
and 20-cent pieces are all known as Newfoundland bronze proof pattems, in every case
identical with the New Brunswick designs except for the obverse name alteration. Even the
proposed gold 2-dollar piece came in for its share of easy substitution: being 10-cent in size,
there exists a bronze proof pattern of this coin, the obverse altered to read
"NEWFOUNDLAND", the reverse having "10 / CENTS" erased and "TWO / DOLLARS"
added. Aside from these changes, the design is identical with the 1864 New Brunswick 10-
cent piece.

This could not work since New Brunswick and the proposed Newfoundland coins could
be too readily confused and interchanged, to the detriment of the latter. New Brunswick, like
the rest of Canada, valued the British pound at $4.86 2/3 while Newfoundland settled on
$4.80, making the "Newfoundland Dollar" worth some 1.4% more. That, alone, would raise
the danger of the new full-bullion-value gold two-dollar coin being acquired for New
Brunswick (or Canadian) coin and exported.

Therefore, we find new reverse designs being made up, chiefly by Horace Morehen, who
appears to have been something of a free-lance designer attached to the Royal Mint. He
made a series of designs in June/July, 1864 and another limited series in very early 1865.' It's
entirely possible that most of the results of his efforts are within the 1865 Newfoundland
pattern series. There could well be one exception - which will be discussed below.

Governor Bannerman's comment "..we shall hear no more in Newfoundland of different
denominations of Sterling" bears mention. The contemporary British gold sovereign (£1) was
now valued at $4.80 Newfoundland; however, there had been two "Newfoundland pounds”
in recent times: the "Newfoundland Sterding Pound", worth $4.61 in the new coin as well as
the "Newfoundland Pound” which had been valued much the same as the rest of Canada -
$4.00 (i.e., 4 Spanish milled dollars, each passing for 5/ local currency). Under the new Act,
both of these were to be converted into decimal at the above rates.

The above packet of documents now made their way to Downing Street with the following
covering letter:

Document 5.

"Downing Street,

' Jacobs, W. "Early Newfoundland Coinage; The Modern Designs, 1864/5" in CNRS
Transactions, Vol. 36 (2000), pp 58-62



25th February, 1864
Sir,

With reference to your letter of the 16th of December last, I am directed by the Duke
of Newcastle to transmit to you, for the consideration of the Lords Commissioners of
the Treasury, a copy of a despatch from the Governor of Newfoundland enclosing an
address to the Queen from the Executive Council relating to the new coinage for that
Colony, together with a letter of credit in favor of the Master of the Mint on the Union
Bank of London, to the extent of £11,500 Sterling.

I am, Sir, Your obedt. Servant
(signed) Thos. F. Elliot

The Right Honble
Frederick Peel M.P."

In accordance with the normal chain of command, this resulted in the following
document from the Colonial Office to the Treasury:

Document 6:

"Colonial Office
27 Feby 1864

Dear Mr. Buckland,

With reference to a despatch which we have just sent to the Treasury about a
Coinage for Newfoundland, the Manager of the Union Bank of London has offered at
the Governor's request to call either at the Treasury or on the Master of the Mint to
give any explanations which may be desired. He is of course a man whose time is
precious and one should not wish to send lim to the wrong place. Could you therefore
kindly ascertain for me whether it would be more practically useful that he should
attend at the Treasury or at the Mint - if at either?

I daresay he might be able to assist in examining the matter at whichever of the Tuwo
Offices may undertake the substantial consideration.

Yours very truly,
(signed) Thos. F. Elliot"

as well as one from the Treasury to the Master of the Mint:
Document 7:

"Treasury
29th Feby /64

Dear Sir,



Mr. Arbuthnot wishes for a report from you upon the proposed new Coins required
for Newfoundland and especially as to the new Gold Coins to represent two Dollars,
before giving any directions for preparing dies &c. I enclose a note from Mr Elliot
of the Colonial Office submitting an offer of the Manager of the Union Bank to call
either at the Treasury or at the Mint to give any explanation required relating to the
new Coins.

Mr. Arbuthnot has suggested that you should communicate with him, and I will
reply to Mr. Elliot accordingly.

Yours truly,

(signed) E. Buckland
(To) The Master of the Mint"

After the groundwork had progressed so rapidly, everything went into slow motion.
According to the Rowe/Haxby/Graham work?, "The earliest patterns for the new coinage
were produced in response to the Mint Master's order of 14 May 1864" which specified that
the new coinage was to be that of New Brunswick designs, the substitute of name excepted.

The writer has not seen this particular document but the patterns of 1864 noted above bear
this out.

Then there is a hole in documentation, the next being invoices for designs by Horace
Morehen (18 June and 20 July). Evidently, the decision had been made for Newfoundland to
acquire its own unique reverses.

The final document is a plaintive request from Newfoundland to the Mint - months later:

Document 8:

" Saint Johns Nfld: 1st November
1864

My dear Sir

Since my return to this island | have stated to our Council the objections raised by
you in reference to our Gold Coinage and we come to the determination to do without
the gold, but are very anxious to receive the Silver and Bronze which I hope may have
been dispatched before this reaches you as we are much in need of it.  Should it not
have been forwarded, may I ask you to have it sent as soon as possible.

With my best thanks for your civilities to myself

I remain, my dear Sir,
Yours very truly,
Nicls. Stabb

(to) Thos. Graham Esqr."

i Rowe/Haxby/Graham, ibid. p.51



According to the Rowe/Haxby/Graham work, this resulted in a spate of orders within the
Mint: Nov. 12 - Treasury authorizes the mint master to proceed with the 1864 coinage; Nov.
17 - Mint master Graham specifies altered "New Brunswick" obverses but with new reverses
and the date is now to read "1865".

A whole series of 1865 Newfoundland patterns exist but there is an oddity: the bronze
cent. In accordance with Newfoundland's first instructions, there exist "pattems" with the
obverse reading VICTORIA QUEEN with the reverse very close to that used in 1865 and
afterward but with an 1864 date. These are probably not patterns but rather "business strikes
minted in quantity but with virtually all melted down before release". The R/H/G work
(which incidentally shows the wrong obverse for the NF-6) says that a "large number of dies
were prepared as early as May 1864" but the writer entertains doubts on this score. In the
first place, the Mint rarely went further than the design/pattern stage on any coinage that had
yet to receive final authorization from the Treasury, which in this case was not until
November 17. Then we have the Morehen invoices, showing that he was still sketching the
pitcherplant reverses June 13, let alone a die having been sunk for them. Chances are good
the "business strike" cents (the Charlton NF-6 "patterns") were done after the authorization
date, too late for sending that year. There also exist proof "trial strike" cents dated 1864 (NF-
18), in every respect like the regular 1865s except for the date; however, these seem to have
been produced solely to be included in the 1865 Newfoundland proof sets (which for some
reason never used an 1865 cent). In addition is a kind of hybrid (NF-7) which combines the
obverse of the New Brunswick (or Nova Scotia) cent with the 1865 reverse as later used on
the regular coinage.

Oddly - and to our dismay - the Royal Mint documents jump from the last Morehen
invoice (10 January 1865) all the way to 1870¢! Hopefully, they can someday be accessed.

5 If there 1s evidence of a "large number of dies” having been prepared at this time, they
could well be those altered from the New Brunswick into Newfoundland for the various
1864 "New Brunswick "-type pattemns. Each would involve the removal of the name from a
New Brunswick hub and the sinking of a die from it, at which time NEWFOUNDLAND
would be punched in, making it a "master die". In all, this would have been done for four
obverses and two reverses.

® This particular correspondence is from Royal Mint Records (Mint 13, Folder 75) which,
according to its title was supposed to include "1865 Apr - 1870 Mar. Accounts of
Newfoundland Coinage” but did not. Presumably this information is in another file.
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J. Armand Sanfacgon, Laitier of Loretteville, Quebec

by Jean-Luc Giroux

|
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§ BON POUR
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J. ARMAND SANFACON
LORETTEVILLE
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Colour: pale green

When one mentions the name Sanfagon in west Charlesbourg the first word that comes to
mind is that of milkman. At the beginning of the twentieth century Joseph Arthur Sanfagon
owned property of about 28 arpents (approximately 23-1/2 acres) situated in west Charlesbourg,
to the south of the present site of the Hydro Quebec station.

Mr. Sanfagon had a family of a dozen children, nine boys and three girls. I would like to
tell you a little about one of the sons, J. Armand Sanfagon, who was born April 22, 1910 in west
Charlesbourg. He attended school until the age of 14, following which he learned the trade of
blacksmith. He practised this trade for five years, during which time he earned $5.00 per week.
But recognizing that this trade was not sufficiently remunerative he quit and returned to the land
as a farmer, working on his father’s farm.

In 1929, one of his brothers, Joseph Arthur Jr., became a dairyman and having seen his
brother develop in this profession he decided to become a dairyman as well. Thus it was in 1939
that J. Armand Sanfagon started in the dairy industry, his residence now being at Loretteville.

He made his milk deliveries with a horse drawn wagon, with the tools of the day, a measuring
cup and four-can carrier, his clientele being in west Charlesbourg, Loretteville and Quebec City.
In that year the cost of a pint of milk was 10 cents. He delivered 100 pints daily, as well as
cream and butter. It was also in 1939 that he had printed 1000 tokens, on a pale green coloured
cardboard, which were good for a pint of milk. In 1942 he bought a used car, a 1927 Chrysler,
for which he paid $75.00. Unfortunately he had that car only one year when he had many
troubles with it and had to purchase a newer vehicle to overcome the problems.

Mr. Sanfagon continued his trade until 1971, at which time the price of a pint of milk had
risen to 22 cents. In 1971 he returned to farming, but a little later he became a school workman.
The word retirement is not in Mr. Sanfagon’s vocabulary and he is still active, which is the secret
of his excellent health. Now nearing 91 years of age he is actively sculpting.

Concerning his token good for one pint, only two examples are known to have survived,
and these were found in the interior of a wall when Mr. Sanfagon was doing some renovations.
He possesses one example, which has been plasticized and is kept in a frame with some photos
showing the life of a dairyman. The second token he gave to the author as a gift on Dec. 13,
2000. I am truly privileged to possess this token, which is an extreme rarity, and I would like to
thank Mr_ Sanfagon.



The Bridge Toll Token of Terrebonne

By Jean-Luc Giroux

Aluminum VILLE Prov. Quebec
Rectangular 32 x 19 mm OE Atwood 900-A
Uniface TERREBONNE Bowman 4920a

Historical background of Old Terrebonne

Those who have complained about the seigneurial system established in Canada have
admittedly not understood that this was the most practical method to colonize the country. The
parishes were formed under the direction of the seigneurial lords who were like fathers of the
families in their domains. Without their aid our pioneering Canadian families would have had
troubles getting together to start the colony.

Nine seigneurs succeeded at Terrebonne and made the place the most aristocratic and the
most commercial in the Montreal area. The East Indian Company, founded in 1664, by Louis
X1V, King of France, granted the first seigneury of Terrebonne to one Daulier-Deslandes on the
23" December 1673.

Later in 1802 the seigneury was sold to Simon McTavish, a rich merchant of the North
West Company. Terrebonne then became the stronghold of this company’s fur trade — the names
of which are inscribed in the history of our country — the McTavishs, McKenzies, Frasers,
Proteuses, etc.

McTavish, the seigneur of Terrebonne, the man of great undertakings, McKenzie whose
name is borne by the great river flowing into the Arctic, Dr. Fraser of the North West Company,
and Thomas Porteous of Terrebonne, who is 1805 obtained the right from the provincial
government of Lower Canada to construct the famous wooden bridges linking the Island of
Montreal at Lachine and Repentigny Looking at the 1894 work of P. Napoleon Breton we can
see the “Bout de I'lle” tokens, illustrated under the numbers Breton 534-557.

In 1861, the first aqueduct, a water pipe made of wood, in Terrebonne, belonging to Mr.
Joseph Forget, was bought by the Council of the town. In 1878 the C.P.R. built a rail line from
Montreal to Terrebonne. The year 1890 saw the beautiful city hall built, which burned down in
1922. It also in 1890 that the first electric lighting was installed in Terrebonne, preceded in the
Province only at Montreal, Quebec, Three Rivers and St Hyacinthe. Bell telephone reached
Terrebonne in 1893. In 1898 Joseph Limoges opened a sash and door factory at the side of the
river, near the St Louis College It was there that the great fire of 1922 started. Some of the
wooden water lines were replaced by iron pipe in 1900, and two years later the Provincial Bank
opened its first office here In 1905 the Federal Government built the first post office and
Romuald Masson, son of Joseph Masson, was the last seigneur of Terrebonne.

In 1998 the town of Terrebonne celebrated its 325 birthday, but the first church dated
only to September 1723. In 1998 the population of the town was 44,276 inhabitants.

Designated as a national historic site of interest in 1973, the Ile de Moulins (Mill Island)
constitutes an unforgettable cultural experience In the cradle of the town of Terrebone visitors
can relive the period of the 19" century when the merchant seigneurs ran their imposing mills.
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Through the gates of Mill Island one enters the narrow streets of Old Terrebonne, a quarter rich
in history and beautiful architecture.

The Wooden Bridge of Terrebonne (1834-1905)

We know that since the beginning of the 17" century a small commercial town has grown
around Mill Island. One reached there by means of the river or by the King’s road from Lachine,
that uses the crossing at Bout-de-I’Ile. As early as 1780 a ferry was put in service between
Terrebonne and Jesus Island. The surveyor, Joseph Bouchette, showed the crossing on a map of
Lower Canada in 1815. Later, another map of his, of 1832, indicated that the crossing was
moved downstream close to the present bridge. The service must have been inadequate because
in 1834 John McKenzie, following the example of James Porteous, obtained permission of the
parliament of Lower Canada to build a toll bridge to link the village of Terrebonne to Saint
Francois de Salles.

McKenzie formed a company for the bridge project, of which he became the secretary
treasurer. Among the members of the company we find mainly merchants, and such notables as
Joseph Masson, Joseph-Ovide Turgeon and Francois Coyteux.

When it came to receive tenders for the construction of the bridge, surprise, no
entrepreneur showed the slightest interest. Then the promoters took the course of hiring several
local workers by the day. The work seemed to proceed well, finishing on schedule, November 6,
1835. The next day, two experts, Jos. Lajeunesse and A .-L. Whiteside made an inspection and
declared the bridge satisfactory, the bridge then being opened to the public. After the opening
the construction committee became the administration committee. It didn’t take long for various
groups and people to solicit privileged rates on the bridge. First there was the Sisters of Notre
Dame, then the shareholders, then their families, and then those of Saint Francois who demanded
reductions because they were coming to Masson’s mill, etc. Following such abuses and the
resultant recriminations the directors were forced to eliminate certain privileges. In 1840, the
shareholders were even going to refuse a reduced rate of 8 deniers, compared to 10 deniers, for
the Seigneur, Joseph Masson, who had become the most important shareholder because he had
acquired the shares of Lloyd and Kempton.

A little after the bridge’s construction the administrators were confronted with the
problems of maintenance. During break-up the first spring the ice had violently struck the pillars
of the bridge, seriously weakening the structure. Moreover, the revenues were low and there
wasn’t enough money on hand to make the repairs. The company then had to approach Joseph
Masson who advanced the necessary funds. Sadly the ice was an annual worry. The break-ups
of 1844 and 1845 nearly took the bridge out. At every blow, it was Masson who provided
money to meet the expenses of the bridge. Thus when he died in 1847 he owned 78% of the
shares. Not surprisingly in October 1847 his widow acquired the remaining shares and became
the sole owner of this white elephant.

Some words on Joseph Masson. When he bought the seigneury of Terrebonne, on Dec.
12, 1832, for the price of 25,150 sterling Louis, it was said that some English upset to see a
Canadian make the acquisition, told him that he would fail meet the payments, but he did, to the
great surprise of the group who could not imagine a French Canadian had such a sum available.
Without a doubt they didn’t know him. The dream was realized. The little Joseph Masson, poor,
was to become the biggest and richest merchant in Montreal. “I recall,” wrote E.Z. Massicotte,
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UHONORABLE JOSEPH MASSON [1791-184/F
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“how much people admired Joseph Masson’s superb carriage which passed my father’s house
like a flash on the way to Terrebonne.”

The new seigneur started immediately on some grand projects on his realm. He had new
mills erected, a new office, the Boulevard Hotel, and the activity revived Terrebonne. A close
friend of the parish priest Masson helped out when it concerned the benefit of the people or the
progress of the parish. Masson died prematurely on May 15, 1847, leaving his widow many
millions. Masson had accumulated one of the largest fortunes of the period. From 1848
Masson’s widow decided to build an immense country home to comfortably house all the
members of her large family. Furthermore, she undertook the project that her husband had toyed
with for some time, that his premature death had prevented him from realizing. The construction
took six years and nothing was spared to make this residence a monument worthy of the fortune
acquired by the late seigneur, a monument that could be called the “Chateau Masson™. This
building cost $80,000. ‘

To return to the wooden bridge, the various companies which operated it had to
frequently repair it, rebuild entire sections taken out by the ice. The revenues never allowed for
a real profit, the undertaking suffered thus, to the point in 1862 there was the question of entirely
rebuilding the bridge. Could one speak of renovations or of reconstruction? However often the
bridge was repaired it was necessary to rebuild it in the summer of 1883, this time the work
being onerous. In the spring of 1887 the river level was high and the ice tore out five of the
eleven arches and four of the footings. Seeing that, the proprietors had no other choice than to
consider building a permanent iron bridge.

The situation became so alarming that the problem took on proportions that disturbed the
populace. The taxpayers forced the town of Terrebonne to move. However, the finances of the
town did not permit it to undertake such a project. In the spring of 1892 the supports for the
bridge were destroyed. Again, repair or rebuild? Was it necessary to point out that the
successors of Masson no longer had any financial interests in the bridge, the charter having
expired in 1884. At the end of 1896 the Public Works of Quebec engineer returned to
Terrebonne to effect a series of plans with the view to building an iron bridge with reinforced
concrete footings capable of withstanding the worst of the spring conditions.

To conclude on the wooden bridge, here are several figures on the revenues: in 1900
$1,859,in 1901 $1,750, in 1902 $1,728, in 1903 $1,705, and in 1904 $1,655, an average of
$1,725 annually. The annual salary of the toll taker was $325 and he was housed by the
seigneur. A total of 1450 vehicles were passed free of charge over the bridge in 1905, to come to
the mill and one paid, on average, seventeen cents to cross. It will be easy to understand the
number of approaches by the municipal authorities of the day to the political parties to obtain the
necessary permission and the essential grants to build a permanent iron bridge over the river.

Construction of the Present Iron Bridge from 1906

Ernest-Seraphin Mathieu, notary, was the mayor of the town of Terrebonne during the
period that the bridge was built. The council was divided three to three on June 10, 1906 and
Mr. Mathieu broke the tie, a move which was to have happy consequences for the town.

We have come to consider Mr. Mathieu as the veritable instigator of the bridge. Curator
of old stocks (in his occupation as notary) he worked with recognized Liberal organizers to
obtain subsidies for Terrebonne. In a memoir that he wrote he said, that in 1905 he was mayor
of the town and the council was made up of six members, all Liberal. However, so not to be
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blocked, despite my Conservative principles, he worked with the Liberal party, then in power, to
obtain the necessary assistance to build our bridge.

About 1900 the Honorable Raymond Prefontaine, who had achieved an electoral victory
in the county of Terrebonne, was named Minister of the Marine in the Laurier cabinet. During
the election he had promised to have funds voted for the constuction of a quay on the Terrebone
side and on the other side, the St Francois de Sales side of the river. It would be necessary to
dredge the Thousand Islands River to create a navigable passage from Charlemagne to
Terrebone.

In 1902 Prefontaine, still a federal minister, with the support the the Honourable Mr. Jean
Prevost, the provincial member, had obtained a vote of $28,000 to build the abutments in
concrete on both sides of the river. These footings were destined to serve as ice breakers and
protect the quays that the federal government had the intention to build.

These abutments were built and, immediately, the citizens of Terrebonne realized that as
much as they protected the quays they could also serve as footings for the bridge that they had
wanted to have built for so long. At the request of the citizens, supported by Mr. Prevost, Mr.
Prefontaine obtained for the Town of Terrebonne the right to use these footings for their bridge,
and furthermore, at the federal government’s expense, had a road built over the abutments. It
also built the abutments on land provided for that purpose by the town. To all intents and
purposes the federal government had built 50% of the bridge.

In 1905 a delegation from the town met with Mr. Prefontaine and asked him to assist in
the building of the bridge by giving permission to use the abutments that had been built for the
quays. They gave as reason that the work of dredging was going very slowly and it would be
several years before the quays were needed. The request was agreed to and the delegation then
proceeded to Quebec to see Mr. Prevost, provincial deputy for Terrebonne and a minister in the
Gouin Cabinet. Promising to assist the town he had a special law passed authorizing the town to
build the central part of the bridge, that is to say to build a little less than 500 feet [about 152
meters] to link the two abutments built by the federal government.

In 1906, the Town Council, having obtained promises of aid from the provincial
government, found itself ready to let the contract for the construction of a concrete footing in the
centre of the river and two arches in iron of about 250 feet each, to join the works of the federal
government.

The Contract for Construction of the Bridge

The contact was negotiated by Mr. Paul-Arthur Seguin, notary for the town, and awarded
on September 24, 1906, to The Phoenix Bridge & Iron Works Co., of Montreal, later absorbed
by Canadian Vickers. According to the terms of the contract, the Phoenix company was to finish
the work by April 15, 1907. The company would pay a late penalty of $25.00 per day past that
date. Not to tread too lightly on the clauses of the contract, the Town Council served notice on
April 23, 1907 that the company had not completed their work. We know that work was
commenced in October 1906 and completed in August 1907. The cost of the bridge, was
$26,500 to Phoenix Bridge & Iron Works and some other items for a total of $29,500.
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Subsidies

The provincial government, in 1907, in accordance with its promises, authorized the town
to issue debentures to borrow $27,500 to build the bridge and to charge tolls to pay off this debt.
At this point the successor to the Seigneur Masson, ceded his rights to the town for the sum of
$200. The inaugural banquet for the new bridge, the Prefontaine-Prevost Bridge, was held on
Saturday January 4, 1908 at the Hotel Bernadin of Terrebonne. Several hundreds attended this
banquet.

The Tolls

The bill allowing the Town to recover its costs was No. 143, article 35. The first
regulation carried the number 224. Dated June 10, 1907 it established the following tariff

For a carriage drawn by 3 horses 25¢
For a carriage drawn by 2 horses 20¢
For a 4 wheel carriage drawn by 1 horse 15¢
For a 2 wheel carriage drawn by 1 horse 8¢
For an automobile 15¢
For a quadruped, other than a sheep 5¢
For a sheep 2¢
For a large truck or bus 25¢

It should be noted that these tariffs were for outsiders, because the citizens of Terrebonne
enjoyed a preferential tariff which was approximately 50% of the above rates. The tariffs were
changed on a number of occasions, in 1923, 1933 and in 1935 when motorcycles were charged
10¢, bicycles 5¢, pedestrians 2¢. but always keeping sheep at 2¢.

The bridge revenues in 1916 were $3,104. The tolls taken between 1907 and 1965 came
to more than $4 million. During the last ten years the bridge provided 65% of all town revenues.
In 1964 the total was $339,338 Because of these revenues the town was able to maintain its
budget without having to impose to taxation comparable to other similar towns.

Towards the end of the 1950’s there was heavy traffic, particularly on summer weekends,
with jams extending to Mascouche, but at the time on could cross only one direction at a time,
according to the traffic light and the toll collector. With long waits to cross people grumbled to
the collector, but to no avail Incidentally the salary of a collector in 1960 was $3300.

About 1943 the town consulted a contractor about paving the bridge deck. This latter
advised against the project, believing that the structure wouldn’t support the additional weight.
On March 10, 1959 a section of the deck slumped. It took several days to effect repairs and
during this time the bridge was closed to all traffic.

It is not needed to say that the bnidge was now considered as dangerous. In the fall of
1960 a petition of several thousand names was presented to the Minister of Public Works, Rene
Levesque, then in the Lesage Cabinet, but later he became the Quebec Prime Minister)
encouraging the government to proceed with a new route, #18, but now #25, that would not need
to cross on the celebrated bridge The petition bore fruit and the new route was opened in 1965.

It was from that time, Sept 1, 1965, that the Town of Terrebonne ceased to receive tolls
from the bridge. Towards midnight on August 31, 1965 the toll collector received the last toll,
ending a period extending almost sixty years
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This little bridge, popularly known for its width, still serves the residents of the region.
Despite its 93 years, occasional problems, it is fondly remembered as a monument and icon in
Terrebonne.

In recent years a barrier was installed at the entrance to the bridge to limit vehicles to 2.4
meters and three tons, i.e. only cars can now cross the bridge. The author had the honour to
cross the bridge for the first time on September 20, 2000, in order to do his research in
Terrebonne for this article.

The Great Fire of 1922

We cannot talk about Terrebonne without saying something about the fire which
destroyed nearly 45% of Old Terrebonne. It was exactly 8:30 pm Friday night December 1,
1922 when the fire was discovered. That evening there was a Council meeting, but it was cut
short to attend to the crisis. Fire, Fire. The firemen got their pumps out — they had two in
Terrebonne, one steam and the other was hydraulic.

The fire started in the Joseph Limoges sash and door factory, which was situated along
side the river, some distance from any residences. It was believed that the fire was set by a thief
who wanted to hide the theft of a hundred dollars worth of goods from the factory.

When the news of the fire was known it didn’t take long to realize that the fire would
spread. In the blink of an eye the residents understood the danger and immediately got to work.
The firemen rushed to the alarm but the flames were already so intense that it was impossible to
approach the Joseph Limoges factory. There were two street fountains, one in front of the
factory and the other opposite the garage. The fire was so intense that as soon as the hoses were
connected they were consumed. The wind was also very strong, blowing at 40 to 60 miles per
hour, pushing the fire. As the wind was blowing towards the north, it pushed the flames towards
the home of Mr. Limoges which was soon ablaze. From there the fire spread from house to
house. The Fire Chief, Mr. Grenon, realized that the men under his direction could not stop the
fire.

Towards 9:30 pm the municipal authorities called for help from the firemen of Montreal
and Three Rivers. They were not at the door, but it seems that these two cities had the sole
means to fight such a fire. The crews from Montreal arrived towards midnight and those from
Three Rivers two hours later. But the firemen became disheartened quickly as wind fanned the
fire ever higher and carmed burning material which fell back beyond where one would have
wished, to start other fires.

The Town of Terrebonne during the fire presented the appearance of a Belgian or French
town bombarded during the war. Everywhere one could see vehicles of all sorts filled with
goods pulled by women who were trying to save what they possessed. The number of houses
burnt was 128. The fire lasted 21 hours, the district ravaged was between Ste Marie, St Andre,
Chapleau, Laurier and Dupont streets, from east to west, and between St. Louis, St Francois and
St. Pierre from north to south. The La Presse of Dec. 2, 1922 carried the headline, FIRE
DESTROYS PART OF DOWNTOWN TERREBONNE, all the business section, City Hall, the
Post Office, Banks and many other businesses were in ruins. Losses were estimated to exceed
$500,000, with little insurance, 400 persons were without shelter. Happily there was no loss of
life. For those present it was the longest night of the year, a night of terror, of hell and
devastation.
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The toll tokens and tickets for the Terrebonne Bridge.

From the three trips that I made to Terrebonne, the results of my investigations were not
the height of my expectations. The first trip that I made took me to the City Hall to find the
records service, to ask if they had any documentation concerning the toll tokens of the old
bridge. They replied that they had nothing on this subject and suggested that I visit the library,
which is where the municipal archives are kept. Unfortunately I found nothing on the subject of
the token or tickets concerning the tolls. On the other hand I found lots of information on the
taniff structure, the annual revenues for the bridge from 1907 to 1965. A little disappointed to
find nothing on the dates of issue, or of the quantity issued, or the period of utilisation of the
token. Seeing my dejection the librarian referred me to Mr. Aime Despatis, a professional
journalist, editor of La Revue de Terrebonne, a member of the Historical Society of Terrebonne,
the leading person in the historical world of Terrebonne. The librarian told me that if Mr.
Despatis couldn’t answer my questions then no one could. A flame of hope flared in my heart.

When I met Mr. Despatis at the newspaper office, the first thing that I had to do was
show him an example of my token and ask if he knew of their existence. He said yes and that
many years ago an employee of the CPR had shown him one at the Windsor Station in Montreal.
He told me that I was one of very people who possessed such a token. I eagerly reassured him,
saying that I knew another person who had an example and that surely other collectors could
have them in their collections and that it was possible that others might be found in a drawer, or
in old envelopes, or boxes of family memorabilia.

Mr. Despatis said that the token had probably been in use from the opening of the bridge
from 1907, but was unaware of how long it had been used. The token was used exclusively by
the residents of the Town of Terrebonne because it represented a reduced toll. One could only
obtain them at the City Hall of the Town of Terrebonne, proving that one was a resident of the
Town. To me this seems very inefficient. Mr. Despatis told me that he didn’t understand the
reason the municipal archives had nothing that mention the token. Was it possible that the
documents were destroyed in the great fire of 1922 as well as the tokens? That would explain
the great difficulty of finding the tokens today. It was an enigma that I could not clear up during
the three days of my enquiry. | knew that the token was rare, now | was more convinced of that.

As to another visit, I had searched the area of Old Terrebonne to discover something,
either tokens or information, but unfortunately found nothing. It must be said that it is not
obvious to find news of events which are nearly a century old. It is necessary to meet people
who have a sense of history for the information that has been passed from one generation to the
next. The majonty of the people I met were totally unaware of the existence of such a token, but
many that remember the pasteboard tickets in various colours which were used on the bridge. It
is necessary to speak of the use of the tickets in the 1930’s which were more often remembered.
These tickets were used exclusively by the residents of the Town of Terrebonne, and it was
necessary to obtain them at the City Hall there. The sole thing that I was able to pluck at
Terrebonne was a small quantity of tickets, which themselves are not easy to find. 1 bought them
from a collector.

This has led me to conclude that this token is not only rare, but it is Extremely Rare. If
you compare it with the Bout de I'Ile tokens of Montreal which are considered rare but which
you can always find one in auctions even those of little importance. What can we say about the
Terrebonne token? I have been in the field of numismatics for more than forty years and I have
never seen one offered at auction or in a coin dealer’s stock. Following my meeting with Mr.
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Despatis he put an announcement in La Revue de Terrebonne about the token, but no one has
turned up with a token, and it has been more than four weeks.

Now there is no doubt in my mind about the degree of rarity of this piece. I am
convinced that very few collectors have a specimen in their collection. Finally, to prove my
hypotheses I would like to sound out the collectors of north American tokens, especially those
vecturists who are members of the A.'V.A., the most important association of transportation
token collectors. I appeal for your collaboration and cooperation. If you possess this token,
Atwood 900-A would you please send me a post card confirming that. It is not necessary to
identify yourself. I would like to thank you in advance for your assistance.

It is understood that such a survey is not scientific but taking into account those who will
not respond and the percentage of tokens probably tucked away in the bottoms of drawers we
will have a better idea of the rarity. In the months following I will make an endeavour to provide
the results. In closing, we hope that this article on the toll bridge, Prefontaine-Prevost and its
token has been of interest.

Please send your cards to Jean-Luc Giroux, FCNRS
606-4412, Place le Monelier
Charlesbourg, Quebec,
Canada GI1H 7K3

References  Archives nationals du Quebec
Archives ville de Terrebonne
Bulletin de la Societe Historique de Terrebonne
Circuit Historique de Terrebonne
La Revue de Terrebonne
La Presse, December 1922
La Patrie December 1922
Le Devoir December 1922

Translated by R.A. Greene
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HUMPHREYS & PITTOCK, of Nelson, B.C.

By Ronald Greene

N3860a N3860b
Brass:Round:21mm Brass:Round:21 mm:Uniface

The Humphreys & Pittock token, N3860a, would have been issued in 1899. At least
eight have survived. Another token which reads HP & Co. has been tentatively attributed to the
firm but it cannot be said as confirmed.

In Victoria’s Pioneer Square, which is the Old Quadra Street Burying Ground, there
stands a large monument to Thomas Pritchard and his wife, Margaret. You might ask what this
has to do with a Nelson token and the answer would be that it has nothing and yet it has
everything to do with the token. Thomas Pritchard was quite a wealthy man. He and his wife
had no children so he made bequests to the children of his sister, also named Margaret, wife of
John Watkins. One of the bequests went to Caroline Watkins Humphreys, wife of Thomas Basil
Humphreys while another bequest went to Anna Watkins Pittock, wife of Robert Bonner Pittock.
These two sisters were the mothers respectively of Thomas Stanley Humphreys and John
Whistance Pittock. Of course, we didn’t start off knowing this valuable little bit of information:
it came to be exposed as a result of a concerted digging for information.

This short article has also been written with the assistance of four other genealogists who
we know only through e-mail Not one of us had the whole picture. Each of us has brought
information forward that the others did not have. The process of finding the information is
perhaps of more interest than the information itself. Fortunately both Humphreys and Pittock are
rare names, and the name Whistance is even more unusual. We first determined that the Thomas
Stanley Humphreys born in Victona was the same man as the Nelson merchant. By tracing
deaths in the family, by using the Vitals Events which are available through the B.C. Archives
website, we were able to contact a grandson, who suggested his brother would be a better source.
This second brother suggested a cousin, Barb Ethier. It was she who became our first co-
conspirator and mentioned that her great great grandmother’s full name was Margaret
Whistance Pritchard Watkins and that there was also a Robert Pittock in the family, which was
our first clue that Humphreys and Pittock were related. Thomas Stanley Humphreys’ father,
Thomas Basil, was a Colonial Constable and later an M L A. and has been the subject of some
study already.' Possibly he is a candidate to be the subject of a full length biographical work.

We started working on the Humphreys family and amassed quite a bit of information,
including finding a child of Thomas Stanley of whom the family was unaware -- the child died at
a very early age -- and were able to confirm residency by the use of Voters’ Lists and school
records. But the Pittock connection was more difficult
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Barb Ethier found that the 1891 Census listed a Robert and Anna Pittock, in Victoria.
Following this lead we found that there was a Pittock fam;ly in Victoria from 1885 to 1893,
Robert and Anna, and some eight of their eleven children,” including John W. There are no
recorded deaths in B.C. of anyone named Pittock and John W. Pittock did not get married in B.C.
so we looked for a Pittock bride — hoping that we might find a sister as John W. had five sisters
in Victoria — but the only marriage was for a Stella Pittock and a Charles Warburton Young in
Cranbrook. None of John W.’s sisters was named Stella. Not to be deterred we checked the
certificate and found that it held a surprise. It stated that Stella was the widow of John Whistance
Pittock. Stella’s maiden name was Tamblyn, she was the daughter of Francis (Frank) A.
Tamblyn, who while a wine merchant and café operator in Nelson c. 1898 to 1904 issued a
token. Now Stella became doubly important. Charles Warburton Young was the Chief of Police
in Nelson when he married Stella in 1911 and Barb dropped in on the Nelson Museum to see
what she could find about Mr. Young. It turned out that a John Young had produced a family
history and that Charles Warburton Young was an outstanding artist. John Young became co-
conspirator number two. But he knew nothing of Stella’s family beyond the fact that she had
four daughters. We were able to find Stella’s death and the married names of her four daughters.
Then we were able to contact Nora, the third daughter, and only surviving child of Stella’s. She
had no records, but had some valuable memories, photographs, and stories which added to the
mix. One of her nephews, Graham Ennis, a grandson of Stella, is also interested in the family
history and has been able to corroborate some details.

Furthermore, John Young had earlier been in contact with Carol Hubbard, who was doing
the Tamblyn family genealogy and Carol’s records added to the picture. Through the only
person in Victoria with the name of Pittock we also found Michael Cox who is the Pittock family
historian. It turned out that the man in Victoria was from a different Pittock family, from Essex
rather than Kent, but he made been contacted by Michael Cox and had his e-mail address. It was
Michael who had Pittock’s marriage and death dates, and locations. All this because of a small
brass token issued in Nelson, B.C., circa 1899.

Thomas Stanley Humphreys was born in Victoria on December 22, 1873, son of Thomas
Basil Humphreys and Caroline (Carrie) Watkins. He grew up in Victoria. The father died in
1890 and Thomas Stanley left school. He worked as a clerk for a while at City Hall ¢. 1892 -
1893. The family was not mentioned in the directory for 1894 and appear to have left Victoria
for a time but returned to the family home by 1897. Thomas Stanley is next found in Nelson in
October 1898. He appeared as a witness, along with J. W. Pittock , in a notice of dissolution in
the partnership of Lewis and Chase, bakers.’ At the beginning of November he married Jane
Ross in Victoria. The Colonist report® of their wedding stated that Stanley Humphreys was, “a
son if [sic] the late Hon. T.B. Humphreys and is now a successful business man of Nelson, for
which city he left with hlS bride this morning ™ He operated Humphreys & Co., fruits and
candies on Baker Street.’ By February the following year, 1899, the business was being carried
on as Humphreys & Pittock. The firm was located next to the Nelson Hotel. The occasional
newspaper advertisements showed various merchandise: fruits, candies, newspapers, tobacco, ice
cream soda, etc. An ad for Joy, The Star Baker, listed Humphreys & Pittock as one of the
grocers that stocked their bread ® A December 13, 1899 note in the newspaper read, “John
Pittock, of the firm of Humphreys & Pittock, leaves today for California in consequence of a
letter received announcmg the serious illness of his father. Mr. Pittock expects to be away a
couple of months. ™" Perhaps the newspaper did not know or report all the facts for ten days later
it was announced that “Joe Howson has purchased the stock of Humphrey [sic] & Pittock, and is
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selling out same, to start in the tobacco business.”® A later report’ mentions that the business
failed and it is hard to see how a small grocery would support two partners. However,
Humphreys was still shown as a merchant in the 1900 voters list, dated May 7, 1900 for the
June general election of that year, as was John Whistance Pittock Following the failure of the
business Humphreys went to work as a bookkeeper, and then was taken on as a car repairman by
the Canadian Pacific Railway. He worked for a time in Eholt and by 1912 was in Grand Forks.
He lost his job with the CPR as a result of a strike following WW1. However, he was hired back
and worked for them at Beaver (or Beavermouth) which is on the main line between Revelstoke
and Sicamous. The family has been told that he was hit by a locomotive while switching cars
which caused some brain damage and loss of memory. Unfortunately we have not been able to
uncover any information about such an accident, but Thomas Stanley Humphreys was committed

=P A



Thomas Stanley Humphreys

taken September 1913
at Spokane, WA

.



to the Provincial Mental Hospital at Essondale November 1, 1925 and died there on March 1,
1940. His widow, Jane Ross Humphreys died in Victoria in November 1945.

John Whistance Pittock was the son of Robert Bonner Pittock and Anna Maria Watkins.
Robert Bonner was born in London and came to the USA in the early 1840’s. He came west by
wagon train. He and his brother, Henry Lewis Pittock settled in Portland. The brother started as
a printer’s devil and in 1860 purchased the Oregonian newspaper, in time becoming a wealthy
man. He built Pittock Mansion which was purchased by the City of Portland, restored, and is
today a part of the City’s parks system. Robert Bonner’s first wife, Maria Buckingham died in
1857 as a result of childbirth. He returned to Pittsburgh to visit his parents and overcome his
grief. Returning to Portland he worked for Thomas Pritchard. In 1863, he married Anna Maria
Watkins. When Anna Maria’s uncle, Thomas Pritchard, decided to move to Victoria he gave his
business to Robert Bonner. Robert Bonner and Anna Maria Pittock had eleven children, of
which John Whistance, called Jack, was the seventh, born in Portland, Oregon July 26, 1873.
Following Pritchard’s death in 1883 the Pittock family moved to Victoria where Jack became a
draftsman. Jack moved to Lewiston, Idaho by 1896 where he became involved in a real estate
company. Robert Bonner Pittock probably moved to San Diego where in 1899 he had a stroke
which invalided him for the rest of his life. He died in September 1906."° Jack came to Nelson
in late 1898 where he joined his cousin, Thomas Stanley Humphreys, in the business. Following
the business’ failure and his trip to San Diego to see his ailing father he appears to have returned
to Lewiston and resumed his real estate business.

Stella Tamblyn’s father, Frank Tamblyn ran the Nelson Wine Company which was also
located on Baker Street. In fact, both Humphreys & Pittock and the Nelson Wine Company in
1899 listed their telephone number as No. 93 so they might have been sharing premises. Stella
and Jack Pittock were married on February 14, 1906 in Lewiston, Idaho at her mother’s home.
The reference seems to imply that Mr. and Mrs Tamblyn were divorced or separated by this time
and Stella’s daughter believes that Mrs Tamblyn was married three times. At some time Jack
became diabetic, which in the early part of the twentieth century was tantamount to a death
sentence. By 1907 he was living in San Diego, and a letter from his sister to a brother said that
he was camping in the mountains nearby and feeling and looking better. He died in Claremont,
California on January 19, 1908.

It is quite sad that both partners had their share of misfortune and were it not for the token
much of this tale would have been forgotten.

' Jean Foote. The Honourable Thomas Basil Humphreys, A Controversial Contributor to Changes in earlv B.C., a
paper submitted at UCC. Ms Foote is the wife of a great-grandson of TBH.
“ The first born daughter . Carrie. died at one vear of age, and Emma died at 18 months. The second born. Henry.
does not appear to have come to Victona.
* Nelson Miner October 25, 1898. p. 3
" Daily Colonist November 2. 1898, p. 3
* Williams B.C. Directory for 1899, which listed Humphrey [sic] & Co.
® Nelson Daily Miner December 3, 1899, p. 2
Nelson Daily Miner December 13, 1899, p. 3
¥ Nelson Daily Miner December 23. 1899, p. 7
° The Essondale medical history of Thomas Stanley Humphreys was obtained by Barb Ethier and in it is mention
that his business failed.
' The Pittock Descent, genealogical notes by Michael Cox
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Frank A. Tamblyn, Nelson, B.C.

By Ronald Greene

BC N6610a Brass:Round:21mm

It is difficult to say when Frank Tamblyn issued this token, possibly in the first year that
he was a Nelson merchant, 1898 - 1899. But let us explain.

Francis Arthur (Frank) Tamblyn' was born in Hope Township, Ontario on November 4,
1852, the oldest son of John Tamblyn and Grace Parsons. He married Agness Maud Johnson® on
January 30, 1878. Frank Tamblyn and his wife had four children. The only son, Arthur Ashton,
born in Hullett Township, Ontario in 1879 survived only four weeks. The three girls, Louisa,
born in 1880, Stella, born in 1883, and Elsie, born in 1894 lived to adulthood. Louisa was born
in Ontario, but Stella and Elsie were born in Manitoba.> The family had moved to Souris,
Manitoba by 1883. The Sowden Land Colonization Movement left from Millbrook, Ontario in
April 1881, passing through Hullett Township, and while there is no record of Tamblyn being a
part of the movement they went to the same area and may have met or known members of the
colony.* In Souris the Tamblyns met the Young brothers, Barney and Charles Warburton, who
had come from England. By 1897 the Tamblyns were in the Nelson area. The Williams B.C.
Directory’ lists Frank Tamblyn as a prospector under the Nelson listings. The Henderson’s B.C.
Directory®, says he was a liquor wholesaler in Nelson in 1898. With input from the City of
Nelson business licences published in April 18987 which does not mention Tamblyn and a voters
list® published in July of that year, that shows him as an hotel-keeper in Ymir, it would appear
that he gave up on prospecting, ran a hotel for a while then by July or August 1898 was running
a wholesale liquor business on Baker street in Nelson.

The earliest ad for Frank Tamblyn that we have been able to find was run under his name
on March 28" 1899 ° The content is not what one would expect of a wholesale wine merchant,
as it reads, “Frank A. Tamblyn Baker Street, will have, throughout the summer, an assortment of
the Choicest House plants ever received in Nelson. New shipments every week.” On August 2™
1899 his ads started appearing under the name, the Nelson Wine Company.

s - o *
%%?Ah‘@é ad under Tamblyn Call and get n bottle of the puros(. and
. a-llrn‘ncm’“".h-r m: name Jul 30. ]899 best beer mrtdo. Alsa try our Wines,
n:lhlb‘nr oeighbors. | keep nooe Iiquors and Clgars.
e ELSON WINE CO
FRANK A. TAMBLYN," ad under Nelson Wine . : g
& . s FRANK A. TAMBYLN, Manager.
AKER STREET, Neusox

Co. name ,Jan 4, 1903 Telephone 93 — — Baker Street, Nalson. -

— o )

There is a good possibility that the token that bears his name may have been put into use
in the time prior to August 1899 Considering his close relationship with Humphreys & Pittock
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who issued a similar token in 1899 can one think of a better time? Complicating this view,
however, 1s that the Williams 1899 Directory, published in January 1899 lists him as operating

Tamblyn could not be considered to g

have been a large advertiser, but small ads ,.g o
appeared quite regularly through the latter Rare Old Wines ! ‘
half of 1899, with a large display ad
appearing Dec. 17, 1899 (shown at right).
He was still advertising as the Nelson Wine
Co. until May 8, 1903 which was the last
advertisement that we have found. On May
7, 1903 the following item appeared in the
Nelson Daily News:

s
e

@rs Mellowed by Age!

(Cigars that Perfect Life ! &
What could be a finer ¢

HddOdOOOODOL
PRO@

Gl
“C.A. Bartley, who recently came to . . -
Nelson from Manitoba, yesterday purchased Christmas Gift ? . :(_,
the interest of Reisterer & Vaughn in the @
Nelson hotel. Commencing today the hotel For Medicinal or Domestic purposes, or to (.
will be run by the new firm. Frank |42 drive away the cares of life and make .the (:“}'
Tamblyn, being associated in the § vorldandall ‘Pere;f 300k TOAY ﬁmmg (o
management, which will have full control of samcosm e ik Shsjgoctix e saik e
the restaurant, saloon and lodgings.” e
Henderson’s 1903 Directory'’ -2 B e
showed Frank Arthur Tamblyn as the X2 -
manager of the Nelson Wine Co., and A M. ® ¢
Tamblyn, who presumably was his wife We make a Specialty of Supplying tha e
Agnes Maud, as “wholesale liquors, Nelson & wants of Familles. Tclephone ?‘"
Wine Co., and prop. Nelson Cafée E Ordars premptly attended to :
Baker.” Mr. Bartley, or possibly Mr. 5,

Barcley, see below for the explanation of
this comment, was not listed The 1904
Henderson’s'" lists Frank Arthur Tamblyn
as a bar-tender on the S.S Aoyie, a
Kootenay Lake steamboat which today is a
museum ship moored at Kaslo The
directories also show that a Mrs Ida Teucat,
or Tencat, was the proprietor of the Nelson
Hotel and Café as early as July 1903, so
Tamblyn’s involvement in the hotel was
likely of short duration.

Tamblyn had left Nelson by 1905, probably returning to Ontario while his wife moved to
Lewiston, Idaho. He died at Blyth, Ontario in 1931 The community consisted of 618 people
that year and did not have a newspaper Goderich was the closest large community and while its
newspaper ran a Blyth column the file in the Ontario Provincial Archives is incomplete and those
copies on the file for 1931 did not mention Tamblyn

S N AL N A
RIS R R PRV AT

Nelson Wine Go.

FRANK A. TAMBLYN, Manager.
Phone 93 Baker Street

-, * N

2
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In a fairly cursory check of the Nelson newspapers we have found Frank Tamblyn’s
name arising on only a few occasions. Two of the references are about his prowess as a curler
and his results from bonspiels he attended in January of 1899 and again in January of 1904.

According to Nora Young, a grand-daughter, Agnes Maud Tamblyn was married three
times. Her last husband was a Saskatchewan turkey farmer, named Charles Barclay. In January
1903, C.A. Barcley, a visitor from Manitoba, a guest of Frank Tamblyn, was taken seriously il.'?
Were C.A. Barcley, C._A. Bartley, and Charles Barclay all the same person?

As to the daughters, Louisa married William Graham Lillie in Nelson on January 30,
1901. The two witnesses were Stella Tamblyn and C.W. Young. Stella married John Whistance
Pittock in 1906 in Lewiston, Idaho and was widowed 18 months later. [See article on Humphreys
& Pittock]. In 1911 Stella returned to Nelson as the wife of Charles Warburton Young. It was
said that Charles pushed Stella’s pram when she was a baby. He was a graduate of the South
Kensington School of Art and after leaving the Nelson police force was able to make his living
as an artist. Elsie was quite a bit younger than either of her sisters and we have not found when
or where she married.

' Carol Hubbard, Descendants of John Tamblyn, undated genealogical manuscript.
* Her Ontario birth certificate spelled the name Agness, but all other references give the more usual spelling of
Agnes.
* 1901 Dominion Census
* John Young, the Young family genealogist wrote that the Sowden Colony passed through Hullett Township before
crossing the river into the United States and was known to have added additional members to the party as they
Passed through Ontario. He was looking for the possibility that the Tamblyns joined the Colony.
" R.T. Williams, Williams' Official British Columbia Directory 1897-8, published September 1897, p. 66
® Henderson Publishing Company Ltd. Lty., Henderson s British Columbia Gazetteer and Directory and Mining
Companies for 1898. published August 1898.. p. 288
The Tribune, Nelson, B.C., April 2, 1898, p. 3
* The Tribune, Nelson, B.C.. July 2. 1898, p. 4. The 8" General Election was held July 9, 1899.
? Nelson Daily Miner. March 28_ 1899. p. 4
""" Henderson s British Columbia Gazetteer and Directory for 1903. published July 31, 1903, p. 408
"' Henderson s British Columbia Gazetteer and Directory for 1904. published June 21. 1904, p.
'* The Dailv News. Nelson, January 18. 1903, p. 6
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Numi i r 6
by Harry N. James
Woodstock continued.

The following rather sketchy information was gleaned from various Vernon’s Woodstock
(Ontario) Directories, Vernon Publishers, Hamilton, Ontario, issues from 1930 - 1976.

Dairies listed for Woodstock for the year 1930:

City Dairy, Maple Dairy Co., Ltd., Silverwood’s Oxford Dairy and the Woodstock Dairy Co.
Ltd.

1948 - Silverwood’s Dairy Ltd. Woodstock (Dairy) branch, 609 Dundas St., office and milk powder
plant 695 Canterbury.

1952 - Silverwood’s Dairy Ltd. 609 Dundas St.
Silverwood’s Oxford Dairy Ltd. Canterbury St.

1962 - Oxford Dairy (Woodstock) Limited, 225 Norwich Ave.
1972 - 1976 - Oxford Dairy Ltd. Eric E. Wadsworth, pres. and general manager - 225 Norwich Ave.

The Oxford Dairy Ltd. was responsible for at least six tokens which were used in conjunction
with their business.

Four were cow’s head shaped aluminum tokens differing in colour and milk type.

Obv.: OXFORD DAIRY /LTD./TEL./ 170/ WOODSTOCK
Rev.. GOODFOR/1/ QUART A-CH-36 X 28 aluminum colour

bottom hole

Obv.: same as above
Rev.. GOOD FOR/2/QUART /2% /A.J. MILK A-CH-36 X 28 light gold colour

bottom hole

Obv.: Same as above

Rev: GOOD FOR /2/QUART / SKIM MILK A-CH-36 X 28 green colour
bottom hole

Obv.:  Same as above

Rev GOODFOR /2/ QUART / HOMO MILK A-CH-36 X 28 purple colour
bottom hole

Obv.: OXFORD /DAIRY LTD./GOOD FOR / 1 QUART / SKIM MILK / WOODSTOCK

Rev.: Blank A-R-31 red colour - top hole

Obv.: OXFORD/DAIRY LTD. /GOOD FOR / 1 QUART / 2% HOMO / WOODSTOCK
Rev.: Blank A-R-31 green colour - top hole
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ks 1 QUART
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SKiM MILK
WOOLSTOCK

Two bakery tokens were used in Woodstock. Both are from the same firm, one being a later
variety of the other. '

Obv.: HARRISON / BAKER / WOODSTOCK, ONT. (Star over and under “baker”)
Rev.: GOOD FOR/1/LOAF OF BREAD A-Sc8-30

Obv.: HARRISON / BAKER / WOODSTOCK, ONT. (Bar over and under “baker™)
Rev.: Same as above A-Sc8-28

In addition to these tokens, the city of Woodstock made use of a parking token for municipal
parking.

Obv.: CITY OF WOODSTOCK (Around diameter)
Rev.: PARKING/TOKEN B-R-23
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On the Trail of a Fake Nor'wester.

by Wayne L. Jacobs, FCNRS

Forward.

A short time ago, the writer was fortunate in securing a number of older auction catalogues,
each of which contained a certain offering of Canadian colonial tokens and the like. In one of
them, a "copy" of the Northwest Company token (Br-925) was offered. While it obviously was
a copy, the writer had never heard of such an "issue", nor could he find any reference to one in

his library and files. This was mystifying since where there is one such item, there is almost
certainly a number.

At a personal dead end, the writer turned to the network of the C.N.R.S. for more information
and was extremely lucky in scoring a hit with his first contact.

For the background information regarding the "copy", I give special thanks to C.N.R.S.
Fellow Les Hill whose very first "educated guess" prove to be completely accurate and who did
the legwork in contacting other sources further afield. Thanks is also extended to them: Les
Copan and the website of the Pacific Northwest Numismatic Association, operated by Eric
Holcomb. Two photos are downloaded from this site which, although copyrighted, also notes:
"Coin club and school educational use permitted and encouraged".

The writer is grateful for the data input while noting that presentation and interpretation -
as well as any errors thereof - are solely his responsibility.

The Northwest Company Br-925.

If any token in the North American series falls through the cracks of attribution, it is this
one. Struck for one purpose, it served another; meant for one citizenship, it had it revoked.

Today, the Charlton token catalogues omit the Br-925 while the Haxby/Willey works include
it - both for equally valid reasons.

First of all, "What is it?". Being plainly marked "Token", it obviously was originally meant
to serve as coin - yet the fact that nearly all are pierced for suspension shows they rarely (or
never) performed this function. Most extant pieces have come from "excavations" - which we
can probably interpret as being from Indian graves, a rather macabre concept.

Next, "Where were they used?". This is the easiest of all to answer since practically all
traceable pieces originate in the "Oregon Country” of what are now the U.S. states of
Washington and Oregon, particularly the area drained by the Columbia River.

Lastly, "Are they Canadian?" No, but then "Canadian" is not the same thing as "British
North American", and they are that. Certainly they would not have been struck for use in a
recognized part of U.S. territory, otherwise they would not prominently display the effigy of
England's George IV some 44 years after the Declaration of Independence. Let us not
overlook the fact that "Canada" in 1820 was really just two rather small colonies: Lower
Canada (Quebec) which at the time consisted only of the Gaspé Peninsula plus a strip only
some thirty miles wide north of the St. Lawrence River and Atlantic seaboard and Upper
Canada (Ontario) with relatively the same strip continuing south to the Great Lakes and
including the triangle bounded by them. Aside from these two, there were the four Atlantic
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Provinces as they exist today plus a small settlement at Red River (roughly where Winnipeg
is today) - everything else we now consider as "Canada" was a vast unorganized territory,
very much viewed by the Hudson's Bay Company as their personal fiefdom. But, in addition,
was a large slice of the Pacific Northwest, presently part of the U.S. : this ran roughly from
today's British Columbia/Alberta/U.S. intersection southwest to the recognized Spanish
territory in what is now northern California. It was hardly recognized as undisputed British
territory by the U.S. but, de facto, the main power there for some years was the Hudson's Bay
Company of Britain, especially after the takeover of its chief rival the Montreal-based
Northwest Company, in 1821.

History of the "Oregon Country".!

While the coast of Oregon may have been sighted from sea by both the Spanish (Bartolmé
Ferrelo, 1543; Vizcaino and Aguilar, 1603) and English (Francis Drake, 1579), no attempt was
made at exploration or even claiming the land for many years. In 1774, the Spaniard, Juan
Perez, sailed up the Oregon coast and continued on as far as the Queen Charlotte Islands.
The next year, another Spaniard, Bruno Heceta, actually landed at a point near today's Port
Grenville and formally took possession for Spain.

As usual, rumours abounded as to a major passage inland by sea - which may have been
garbled accounts of the Columbia River or the Straits of Juan de Fuca. In searching for the
last, Capt. James Cook sailed along the Oregon coast in 1778, missed the Straits but did land
and trade with the inhabitants of westem Vancouver Island - then sailed away to the
Sandwich Islands (Hawaii) where he met his doom.

Even before the Revolutionary War was over, "Yankee traders” started to frequent these
waters, in part spurred by the accounts of Cook's voyages, but leaving little trace of their
passing. Small trade goods - and anything copper or iron - could profitably be traded to the
West Coast aboriginals for sea otter pelts (particularly) which, in tum, were much in demand
in China. In tum, these could be traded for chests of tea or Chinese porcelain ware, the tea
serving as admirable packing material for the latter. All of the Chinese trade goods could be
sold for high prices in Boston, the typical home port.

It was one of these traders, Capt. Robert Gray of Boston, who is credited with the
discovery of the Columbia River (named after his ship) in 1792. On the basis of this, he
claimed all the land drained by this river and its tributaries for the U.S. It was a claim
largely ignored as unsupportable.

Lewis and Clark (1805-06) reached the Pacific via the Columbia from overland but their
claims for other than those specified in the Louisiana Purchase from France (such land as
drained by the Mississippi and its tributaries) were not recognized. The "Oregon Country”,
being west of the Continental Divide, was not drained by those rivers. In addition,
Alexander MacKenzie, in the service of the Northwest Company, had already made it
overland to the Pacific in 1793.

But settlement, in the form of fur traders and their posts (chiefly British) were arriving in
the area. In 1808, the Northwest Company had several posts on the Fraser River and by 1811
had several more south of the present U.S.-Canada border. In 1811, the Pacific Fur Company,
under the guidance of John Jacob Astor of New York, founded a trading post at the mouth of
the Columbia River which he modestly named "Astoria" (Plate A, Il 1), then went on to

1 Mostly taken from "Encyclopedia Britannica", 1929 edition.
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establish a number of more minor posts on the Willamette, Spokane and Okanogan Rivers.
However, upon hearing of the outbreak of war between the U.S. and Britain, Astor’s
associates, deeming the fort untenable, sold the property to the Northwest Company (1813)
after which Astoria was re-named Fort George.

The Northwest Company was no small potatoes. Organized in 1775 as an amalgamation of
a number of "master pedlars” who knew every feature of the country and tricks of the trade
from the St. Lawrence to the Saskatchewan, they directly challenged the Hudson's Bay
Company and its royal charter. Montreal-based, they established their field headquarters at
Grand Portage near the head of Lake Superior and fanned out all through the north and
west. When boundary determination placed Grand Portage in U.S. territory, they shifted to
Kaministique, later Fort William, now Thunder Bay, Ontario. Reaching the peak of their
power in the early 1800s, the Northwest Company had some 2,000 employees, its own freight
canoes, Lake schooners and even ocean-going ships capable of reaching the direct markets of
England and the Orient. During this 15-year period, its profits were estimated to be
£1,185,000 and in 1804, it even undertook to buy out its chief rival, the Hudson's Bay
Company for the sum of £103,000. The transaction was not completed only because certain
shares were held by infants and other persons incapable of transferring title. Toward the
end, however, ambition and Company boldness gave way to ruthlessness and outright
lawlessness; to escape prosecution, the leaders began to tum on one another and with
reduced income, lost trade and jeopardized credit, entered into negotiations for merger with
the rival Hudson's Bay Company in December, 1820, a move that was completed in 1821.

Always sensible that there would be U.S/British partition of these territories some day,
the Hudson's Bay Company had its chief factor in the Northwest, Dr. John McLoughlin,
establish a major post, called "Fort Vancouver”, on the north bank of the Columbia River at
the highest point of deep-water navigation in 1825. (Plate A, IlL 2). During the years before
the merger, the two fur companies were in stiff and sometimes bloody competition but
following the joining of the two forces, the organization known by the same old name - the
Hudson's Bay Company - was the power in the Pacific Northwest, including the "Oregon
Country”.

This is not to say their perceived "sovereignty” was recognized by all; it was not, especially
by the numerous American trappers and fur traders operating out of St. Louis - singly, in
small groups and by large brigades. The Hudson's Bay Company considered them poachers
in their territory and treated them accordingly; the Americans considered the country open to
all and resisted strongly. It was not just Indians the trappers and mountain men fought - it
was just as likely to be rival fur interests.

The Americans may have been based in St. Louis but many of the trappers never saw
civilization for years, meeting annually at a designated location (Jackson Hole in what is
now Wyoming was a favourite) for "Rondyvoo", a combination trade fair, Mardi Gras and
regimental reunion. Sometimes travelling hundreds of miles with their packs of cured furs,
the momentarily wealthy trappers considered themselves lucky if they could return to the
mountains with enough basic supplies to see them through another year, all else expended
in a week of riotous living. Numerous fortunes were made by sharp practices and the
provision of the "shining times" to the trappers. Their day was actually quite brief; beaver
streams became trapped out, beaver hats as men's wear became passé and settlers began to
push back the wildemess.

Directly following the War of 1812, there arose the "Oregon Question" between Britain and

the U.S,, the latter’s position being that the 49th Parallel be extended all the way from Lake
of the Woods to the Pacific Ocean as the boundary between the possessions of the two
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PLATE A.

Fort Vancouver of the Hudson's Bay Company.
Est. 1815. Sketch from 1854.

John Jacob Astor's "Astoria", Founded 1811
Became Northwest Co.'s, "Fort George", 1813

Illus. 3

Genuine Northwest Company Tokens (Br-925)
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countries. To this Britain would not accede and a compromise was reached in 1818 by which
there was to be joint occupation of the Oregon Couniry for the next ten years, the
compromise renewed in 1827 for an indefinite period but with either party able to withdraw
on a year's notice.

The days of Britain's power in the area were numbered as of the late 1830s when American
missions began to be established. In returning to the U.S. for fund-raising and recruitment
drives, these missionaries extolled the virtues of the Oregon farmland, especially that in the
Willamette area. Consequently, there began an American immigration into the region,
slowly at first, but with 1400 following the "Oregon Trail" in 1844 and a further 3000 in the
next year. The "servants” of the Hudson's Bay Company were now badly ocutnumbered, to
the extent that the American settlers even set up their own "provisional government” in 1843.

But the Hudson's Bay Company had actively - and successfully - discouraged American
settlement north of the Columbia River, that area now known as the state of Washington.
There was not a single viable American settlement in this region even though the HBC had
extensive farms of its own at Nisqually House on the Puget Sound and on Cowlitz Prairie,
large enough to supply Company needs and export meat and dairy products to Sitka and
beyond. It's quite evident that the Company had staked what it considered a strong claim to
this northern section of the Oregon Country.

But the U.S. now held the entire Oregon Country to be hers by right and the federal
election of 1844 was won by the Democratic Nationals with their slogan "Fifty-four Forty or
Fight" - in other words, the annexation of all the west coast between the Spanish possessions
in the south and the Russian in the north just above the Queen Charlotte Islands. A treaty
was worked out in 1846 between Britain and the U.S., surprising the Company by Britain's
agreeing in "compromise" to the original U.S. territorial terms of 1816, one that followed the
49th parallel all the way to the Pacific, the boundary as it is today. Consequently, the
Hudson's Bay Company had to pull out of Fort Vancouver and relocate at Victoria on the
southern tip of Vancouver Island. But the Company didn't come away too badly, being
compensated for their "improvements" to the amount of $650,000 by the U.S. government - an
amount considerably more than they were willing to sell everything to the Northwest
Company some four decades previously.

The "Real" Br-925.

For American and Canadian collectors during the mid-19th century, the Northwest
Company token was both elusive and extremely rare. This could be expected, seeing that
before the establishment of the transcontinental railways, the West Coast was literally half a
world away from the East and its developing numismatic interest.

The token seems to have been first described by Rev. H. Christmas in his "Copper Coinage
of the British Colonies in America" (1862) followed by Alfred Sandham (1869) where he
describes it under "Canada No. 13" with the accompanying remark: "This coin is exceedingly
rare, no specimen known to be in Canada". Obviously, he had never seen one.

Apparently it was offered at public sale for the first time by Edward Cogan in his auction
of 1876 where "Lot 685" was a brass "Pierced but otherwise in fine condition" Northwest
Company token, accompanied by the comment: "It is believed this piece is unique. No other
specimen has been seen in Canada to the knowledge of the late owner”. Tt brought $39, a large
amount for the time.
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But the odd additional piece was starting to show up. RW. McLachlan ("Our Rarest
Canadian Coins", Canadian Antiquarian, July, 1882) knew of two: one each held by Thomas
Wilson and Gerald Hart. By 1894, Breton could note in his catalogue the token's rarity at "5 or
6 pieces”.

Over the years, the search spurred by rarity and high prices, a lot more tumed up. Most
major sales of Canadian tokens for the past several decades have managed to contain one or
more. The C.N.A. auction of 1965 offered no less than four: two brass and two copper; that of
1969 had two more and the Lepczyk Auction (Number 43) of 1981 yet two more, one in each
metal. In his "Colonial Coins of Canada" (C.N.]., 1979-83), Robert Willey noted: "Some 5000
of these pieces were struck in copper and brass, brass specimens being less rare".
Unfortunately, he gave no reference for this assertion.

The fact is the Br-925 per se is not much more than "Scarce”. The writer has it on reliable
authority that a hoard of no less than 43 pieces showed up in the 1950s - even though all
showed differing degrees of corrosion from having been excavated and most reduced to the
state of being not much more than a "Filler". Decent Br-925s are something else again - they
are distinctly rare. Also, practically all (the Haxby-Willey catalogue says "All but one..") have
been holed for stringing.

So far as the date of issue is concemed, that would seem to be exactly as represented.
George IV ascended the British throne only in 1820 and in the very next year, the Northwest
Company disappeared into the folds of the Hudson's Bay Company. Although perhaps
originally intended to serve as coin (or possibly computation counters at the trading posts),
the fact that nearly all are holed tends to show few actually served this purpose, becoming
more in the way of "medalet”, "presentation piece” or "Indian gift".

In his "Colonial Coins of Canada", Willey wrote of the Br-925: "Their fabric suggests that
they may have been struck by the firm that struck the thistle tokens of Nova Scotia". This is
possible. The pieces have a definite "Birmingham look" of design and lettering and we
might reasonably assume that a company headquartered in Montreal in 1820 would have
such work done in England - and, yes, probably Birmingham. However, there is no scrap of
written evidence in support of this contention to the writer's knowledge.

Shown are two illustrations (Plate A, Ills. 3 and 4) of genuine Br-925 pieces, that in
horizontal format possibly the finest known and the one presented vertically from the
C.N.A. auction of 1965 where it was offered as "Lot #147"; despite obverse gouges and being
pierced, it is superior to most of the genuine "population”.

The Northwest Company Token Copies.

Once the first examples had come to collectors’ attention, more tended to tum up as the
search for these rare and high-priced pieces intensified. With insufficient numbers to meet
demand, reproductions started to be made - but, so far as we know, all of these were electro-
types, a perfectly legitimate method used by many museums (among others). While an
electrotype produced by the deposition of copper results in the most faithful of copies, it can
be made only as "half-shells". For display purposes, these halves were frequently mounted
side-by-side. For those who chose to have a copy with the same relative characteristics as the
original, the halves were joined by soldering or similar means; however, the join is almost
invariably evident on the edge and next to impossible to conceal when closely examined.
Therefore, electrotype copies should fool no one. Some were made of the Northwest
Company token - as they were for practically all other rarities in the token series.
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Less legitimate are struck copies manufactured solely for the purpose of monetary gain.
Oddly, for such a rare piece, the Br-925 seems not to have had this "compliment" paid until
recent times. Robert McLachlan's "Address to the A.N.A." in 1912 - which was an overview of
counterfeits, fakes and concoctions in the Canadian token series - failed to mention any such
copy, a good indication that there weren't any as yet.

It was with this in mind that the following offering proved so mysterious to the writer,
appearing in Auction #55 conducted by Joseph Lepczyk (November 25-26, 1983) as "Lot
#665". The lot was described as follows: (See Plate B, Illus. 1)

"North West Company. Token, 1820. Struck copy of Br-925. Thick planchet. Dark AU
($200+).

The writer was at a loss to explain the token copy shown, having never heard of another
and unable to locate any reference in his library and notes. It was at this point that he
enlisted the aid of the C.N.R.S. network of Fellows.

Comnering a Fake.

As things turned out, the first Fellow contacted - in the person of Les Hill - also turned out
to be the one entirely adequate to the task. In his very first letter, Les wrote:

"When I mentioned years ago that one should be aware of Northwest Company
token frauds, I surely had in mind the P.N.N.A. medals of 1950 which had a replica of
that token as the center piece which could have been tooled down to actual size and
passed to an unwitting collector as a genuine article”.
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